
 

For information relating to this meeting or to request a copy in another format or 
language please contact: 

Governance Support, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  
01803 207087 

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk 

www.torbay.gov.uk  

(1) 

 

Thursday, 28 April 2022 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

A meeting of Planning Committee will be held on 
 

Monday, 9 May 2022 
 

commencing at 5.30 pm 
 

The meeting will be held in the Meadfoot Room, Town Hall, Castle Circus, 
Torquay, TQ1 3DR 

 
 

Members of the Committee 

Councillor Pentney (Chairman) 

 

Councillor Brown 

Councillor Dart 

Councillor Dudley (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Hill 

 

Councillor Kennedy 

Councillor Barbara Lewis 

Councillor Mills 

Councillor Jacqueline Thomas 

 

 

 

A prosperous and healthy Torbay 

mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/


(2) 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies for absence  
 To receive apologies for absence, including notifications of any 

changes to the membership of the Committee. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 4 - 8) 
 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of this 

Committee held on 14 March 2022. 
 

3.   Disclosure of Interests  
 (a) To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect of 

items on this agenda. 

 
For reference: Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on 
the matter in question. A completed disclosure of interests form 
should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the 
meeting.  

 
(b) To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in 

respect of items on this agenda. 

 
For reference: Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of 
the item. However, the Member may remain in the meeting to 
make representations, answer questions or give evidence if the 
public have a right to do so, but having done so the Member 
must then immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and 
must not improperly seek to influence the outcome of the 
matter. A completed disclosure of interests form should be 
returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting.  

 
(Please Note: If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on 
any potential interests they may have, they should contact 
Governance Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.)  

 
4.   Urgent Items  
 To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 
5.   Land At Nightingale Park, Barton Hill Way, Torquay - 

P/2021/1287 
(Pages 9 - 41) 

 Installation of solar panel array and associated infrastructure. 
Installation of fencing, exercise equipment, information boards and 
CCTV. Landscaping to include new planting and widening of circular 
path.  
 

6.   Municipal Chambers, Union Street, Torquay - P/2022/0089 (Pages 42 - 59) 
 Conversion of upper floors and former public conveniences to form 

ten 1-2 bed apartments, cycle and bin storage. Creation of 
courtyard extension and relocation of three windows on south 
elevation. 
 



(3) 

7.   Public speaking  
 If you wish to speak on any applications shown on this agenda, 

please contact Governance Support on 207087 or email 
governance.support@torbay.gov.uk before 11 am on the day of the 
meeting. 
 
We are trialling hybrid meeting arrangements to give registered 
speakers the opportunity to either attend the meeting in person to 
give their views or to attend the meeting remotely via Zoom.  If you 
would like to attend the meeting remotely to speak you will be 
provided with a Zoom link to join the meeting.  We also ask that you 
provide a copy of your speech to 
governance.support@torbay.gov.uk, before 11 am on the day of the 
meeting, so that the Clerk will be able to continue to read out your 
speech if you lose connection or cannot be heard in the physical 
meeting.  Remote attendees who lose connection may still be able 
to follow the meeting via the live stream on the Council’s YouTube 
channel. 
 
Councillors who are not members of the Planning Committee will 
also be able to join the meeting via Zoom and must use their raise 
hand function to declare any interests. 
 

8.   Site visits  
 If Members consider that site visits are required on any of the 

applications they are requested to let Governance Support know by 
5.00 p.m. on Wednesday, 4th May 2022.  Site visits will then take 
place prior to the meeting of the Committee at a time to be notified. 
 

 Meeting Attendance  
 Torbay Council has taken the decision to continue operating in a 

Covid-19 secure manner in order to protect staff and visitors 
entering Council buildings and to help reduce the spread of Covid-
19 in Torbay.  This includes social distancing and other protective 
measures (e.g. wearing a face covering whilst moving around the 
building (unless exempt), the face covering can be removed once 
seated and using hand sanitiser).  Our public meetings will continue 
to operate with social distancing measures in place and as such 
there are limited numbers that can access our meeting rooms.  If 
you have symptoms, including runny nose, sore throat, fever, new 
continuous cough and loss of taste and smell please do not come to 
the meeting. 
 
If you wish to attend a public meeting, please contact us to confirm 
arrangements for your attendance. 
 

 

 Live Streaming  
 To encourage more people to engage in our public meetings the 

Council is trialling live streaming our Planning Committee meetings 
on our YouTube channel in addition to recording the meetings and 
publishing the recording on our website.  To watch the meeting live 
please visit https://www.youtube.com/user/torbaycouncil. 
 

 

mailto:democratic.services@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/user/torbaycouncil


  
 

 

Minutes of the Planning Committee 
 

14 March 2022 
 

-: Present :- 
 

Councillor Pentney (Chairman) 

 

Councillors Brooks, Brown, Dart, Dudley (Vice-Chair), Kennedy, Barbara Lewis, 
Chris Lewis and Mills 

 
(Also in attendance: Councillors Bye) 

 

 
100. Opening  

 
The meeting was opened with a minute’s silence for a serving member of staff, 
Amanda Coote, who had sadly passed away. 
 

101. Apologies for absence  
 
It was reported that, in accordance with the wishes of the Conservative Group, the 
Membership of the Committee had been amended to include Councillors Brooks 
and Chris Lewis instead of Councillors Hill and Jacqueline Thomas respectively. 
 

102. Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on 14 February 2021 
were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

103. Stagecoach Devon Ltd., Regent Close, Torquay, TQ2 7AN P/2021/0692  
 
The Committee considered an application for the formation of a new access road 
for bus depot and associated works. 
 
Prior to the meeting, Members of the Planning Committee undertook a virtual site 
visit and written representations were published on the Council’s website.  At the 
meeting Mr Michael Watson spoke in support of the application and Dr Rodney 
Horder addressed the Committee in support of the application on behalf of the 
Torquay Neighbourhood Forum. 
 
At the meeting the Planning Officer advised, that since the report had been 
published the applicant had submitted an indicative lighting plan which was 
consistent with the plan submitted with the application. 
 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee   Monday, 14 March 2022 
 

 

Resolved (unanimously): 
 
Approved subject to: 
 
1. prior to commencement of the development the applicant shall submit a 

detailed plan showing the trees that are to be retained on the site, a 
planting management plan, including species, and a woodland 
management plan which shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval, and the approved management plan shall be implemented for 
the lifetime of the development with no additional trees to be felled without 
prior agreement of the Local Planning Authority; 

 
2. the conditions as outlined in the submitted report and the signing of a 

Section 106 agreement or unilateral undertaking for the delivery of double 
yellow lines outside the site entrance, with the final drafting of conditions 
delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and Climate 
Emergency; and 

 
3. the resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light 

following Planning Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of 
Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any 
necessary further planning conditions or obligations. 

 
104. Singleton Gardens, Meadfoot Sea Road, Torquay TQ1 2LQ P/2021/0802  

 
The Committee considered an application for the formation of 9 apartments and 2 
semi-detached dwellings with access, garages and parking.  Demolition of existing 
outbuildings, alterations and extensions to existing dwelling to include 2 storey 
extension to side. 
 
Prior to the meeting, Members of the Planning Committee undertook a virtual site 
visit and written representations were published on the Council’s website.  At the 
meeting Dr Rodney Horder addressed the Committee against the application on 
behalf of the Torquay Neighbourhood Forum.  In accordance with Standing Order 
B4.1 Councillor Bye addressed the meeting against the application. 
 
At the meeting the Planning Officer provided an update on Footnote 7 in respect of 
the principle of development in a conservation area and confirmed that the 
applicant had not provided a detailed explanation regarding their proposal to pay a 
commuted sum for affordable housing.  
 
Resolved (unanimously): 
 
That planning permission be refused for the reasons set out in the submitted 
report.  The final drafting of reasons for refusal and addressing any further material 
considerations that may come to light to be delegated to the Divisional Director for 
Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency. 
 
 
 

Page 5



Planning Committee   Monday, 14 March 2022 
 

 

105. Seabury Hotel, 11 Manor Road, Torquay TQ1 3JX P/2021/0520  
 
The Committee considered an application for the change of use from hotel to 12 
flats, including the demolition of existing extensions, and the erection of a new 
extension and new building. 
 
Prior to the meeting, Members of the Planning Committee undertook a virtual site 
visit and written representations were published on the Council’s website.  At the 
meeting Mr Toby Peters addressed the Committee in support of the application 
and Dr Rodney Horder addressed the Committee in support of the application on 
behalf of the Torquay Neighbourhood Forum. 
 
At the meeting the Planning Officer advised that the application had been subject 
to public re-consultation from 15 flats to 12 flats with 12 parking spaces, no further 
letters of consultation had been received.  The Council’s Senior Tree and 
Landscape Officer had confirmed that they were happy with the revised proposed 
site layout. 
 
Resolved (unanimously): 
 
Approved subject to: 
 
1. an additional condition requiring a disabled parking space to be provided; 
 
2 the conditions as outlined in the submitted report with the final drafting of 

conditions delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and 
Climate Emergency; and 

 
3. the resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light 

following Planning Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of 
Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any 
necessary further planning conditions or obligations. 

 
106. Land Off Brixham Road - Former Nortel Site, Paignton TQ4 7BL P/2019/0278  

 
The Committee considered an application for Reserved Matters on application 

P/2014/0947 (Outline mixed use application for retail, business and residential uses with 
all matters reserved except for access (as revised by S73 applications P/2016/1372, 
P/2017/0123, P/2017/0571 and P/2017/1041)).  Reserved Matters sought: appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale for up to 255 residential dwellings (As revised). 
 
Prior to the meeting, Members of the Planning Committee undertook a virtual site 
visit and written representations were published on the Council’s website.  At the 
meeting Mr Jonathan Best addressed the Committee in support of the application. 
 
At the meeting the Planning Officer advised, that since the report had been 
published a response had been received from the agent and most of the highway 
concerns had been addressed with only minor issues outstanding. 
 
 
 

Page 6



Planning Committee   Monday, 14 March 2022 
 

 

Resolved (unanimously): 
 
Approved subject to: 
 
1. the resolution of the remaining highway matters to be delegated to the 

Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency; 
 
2. the conditions as outlined in the submitted report with the final drafting of 

conditions delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and 
Climate Emergency; and 

 
3. the resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light 

following Planning Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of 
Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any 
necessary further planning conditions or obligations. 

 
107. Land At Princess Gardens, Off Torbay Road, Torquay TQ2 5EY P/2022/0211  

 
The Committee considered an application for the change of use of land for 
temporary erection/operation of observation wheel, with ancillary development.  
One-year season (between period of March to October 2022). 
 
Prior to the meeting, Members of the Planning Committee undertook a virtual site 
visit and written representations were published on the Council’s website.  At the 
meeting Dr Rodney Horder addressed the Committee in support of the application 
on behalf of the Torquay Neighbourhood Forum. 
 
At the meeting the Planning Officer advised, that since the report had been 
published interim comments had been received from Historic England in respect of 
how the rental income would be used for heritage gains in the area. 
 
Resolved: 
 
Approved subject to: 
 
1. the receipt of Historic England comments and The Gardens Trust 

comments to the satisfaction of the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing 
and Climate Emergency; 

 
2. the completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement to secure a ‘conservation 

gain’ to the sum of £20,000 through an upfront payment or Section 106 
Legal Agreement, for restoration works to the adjacent listed War Memorial; 

 
3. the conditions as outline in the submitted report, with the final drafting of 

conditions delegated to the Director of Planning, Housing and Climate 
Emergency; and 

 
4. the resolution of any further consultee responses and public 

representations received within the statutory consultation period, and any 
new material considerations that may come to light following Planning 

Page 7



Planning Committee   Monday, 14 March 2022 
 

 

Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing 
and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any necessary further 
planning conditions or obligations. 

 
 
 
 

Chairman 

Page 8



 

Application Site Address Land At Nightingale Park, Barton Hill Way, Torquay 

Proposal Installation of solar panel array and associated 

infrastructure. Installation of fencing, exercise equipment, 

information boards and CCTV. Landscaping to include 

new planting and widening of circular path. 

Application Number  P/2021/1287 

Applicant TDA 

Agent Fisher German LLP 

Date Application Valid 26.11.2021 

Decision Due date 25.02.2022 

Extension of Time Date 18.04.2022 

Recommendation  Approval: Subject to; 

The conditions as outlined below with the final drafting of 

conditions delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, 

Housing and Climate Emergency; 

 

The resolution of any new material considerations that 

may come to light following Planning Committee to be 

delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing 

and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any 

necessary further planning conditions or obligations. 

Reason for Referral to Planning 

Committee 

Major Planning Application  

 

Planning Case Officer Mr. Alexis Moran 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Site Details 

The application site is approximately 13.27ha in area and is a former landfill site 

which has now been decommissioned and fully capped. The site lies to the south of 

Browns Bridge Road and is bound by commercial and employment uses to the south 

and east with residential uses to the north and west. There are no existing structures 

on site. The site is bound by established woodland to the east which aid in screening 

views to the site. The topography of the site rises towards the centre of the site. 

 

Access to the site is currently achieved via a gated entrance on Barton Hill Way 

along the eastern boundary of the site.  

 

Page 10



A Public Right of Way route runs along Nightingale Close through the southwestern 

area of the site, connecting to Broomhill Way. 

 

The current informal footpaths around the site are used by the public for recreational 

purposes and this would not be altered as part of the proposed development, the 

central grassland area of the site is less well used.   

 

The site is designated as an area for ‘Proposed Sports Facilities - Area of Search’ 

(Policy SC2.6). The Torquay Neighbourhood Plan is consistent with the Torbay Local 

Plan and designates the site for the provision of new community sports, leisure and 

recreation facilities (Policy TLS2). 

 

Part of the Site forms part of Barton West Unconfirmed Wildlife Site (UWS) which is 

described as containing plantation woodland and open grassland habitats. 

 

The site does not contain any designated heritage assets and is not subject to a 

Conservation Area. The nearest heritage asset (163 Newton Road – Grade II* 

Listing) is located approx. 400m south of the site. 

 

The site is within Flood zone 1.  

 

Description of Development 

The application proposes the formation of an array of photovoltaic panels which, 

along with the associated access track, hardstanding and built development would 

cover approximately 5.82ha of the central area. It is anticipated that the generation 

capacity of the solar array would be around 3.2 MW. It is proposed that the majority 

of this sustainable electricity will supply the nearby Torbay Hospital. 

 

The photovoltaic solar panels are low profile and appear as black cells. The panels 

are mounted and have a maximum height of 2.89m from ground level.   

 

The development would consist of rows of PV solar panels from west to east across 

the site which would be orientated to face south towards the sun. The proposed 

Page 11



development is divided into two banks of panels divided by a 5m wide maintenance 

gravel access track. The solar panels are supported on a lightweight steel 

framework, which in turn is supported on kentledge concrete ballast blocks. These 

are to be placed directly on the existing capping material, this also means that they 

can be removed with relative ease and the land returned to its previous state if 

necessary.  

 

Two ancillary buildings are also proposed which include a transformer kiosk and 

switch gear kiosk to be located in the south western corner of the site. The kiosks will 

be 3.5m in height.  

 

The array would be enclosed within a wider meshed security fenced area, the fence 

poles would be 2.1m with the fence height being 2m, CCTV poles will be sited 

around the perimeter to monitor the site.  

 

A series of landscape proposals to assist the integration of the proposed 

development into the local landscape character setting and to strengthen visual  

screening from local area viewpoints are proposed. 

 

The proposal would result in the removal of 7 existing trees which will be mitigated 

by new planting.  

 

The proposal includes the provision of a permeable gravel surface to, and the 

widening of, the existing circular paths to a width of 1.8m, providing enhanced, all-

weather access to Nightingale Park. Exercise areas and equipment are proposed 

adjacent to the gravel surfaced paths to provide enhanced recreational opportunities 

for users of the park. 

 

Access to the site from the adopted public highway is currently achieved via a gated 

entrance in the north-east corner off Barton Hill Way. 

 

It is proposed that Torbay Hospital will use the energy generated by the panels.   

 

Pre-Application Enquiry 

Page 12



Pre-Application Advice was obtained from Torbay Council in March 2021, in respect 

of a new ground mounted solar array and associated equipment on land at 

Nightingale Park. 

 

The pre-application advice stated that a Phase 1 Habitat Assessment, a Biodiversity 

Impact Assessment and a Landscape Visual Impact Assessment should be 

submitted with a future application. Given the sites allocation in the Local Plan, an 

element of recreation and leisure should be incorporated into the proposed plans 

too. 

 

The pre-application response acknowledges that Torbay Council declared a Climate 

Emergency in June 2019 and that the provision of renewable energy must be given 

substantial weight. 

 

Early engagement with the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan Group was recommended. 

The applicant has advised that on the 14th September 2021 members of the project 

team attended a virtual meeting with members of the Torquay Neighbourhood Group 

to outline the proposals and respond to questions. The applicant has advised that a 

Public Exhibition was held on the 27th September at St Martins Church to inform the 

wider community of the proposals and to respond to any questions. 

 

On a without prejudice basis the planning officer view, at the pre-application stage, 

was that the proposed development would gain officer support subject to 

consultations and the outcome of survey work. 

 

Relevant Planning Policy Context  

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a duty on 

local planning authorities to determine proposals in accordance with the 

development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The following 

development plan policies and material considerations are relevant to this 

application: 

 

Development Plan 

- The Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 ("The Local Plan") 

Page 13



- The Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 

 

Material Considerations 

- National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

- Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) 

- Published Standing Advice 

- Planning matters relevant to the case under consideration, including the following 

advice and representations, planning history, and other matters referred to in this 

report. 

 

Summary of Representations  

Fifteen objections from 9 households have been received as well as 2 

representations which were neither for nor against the proposal.  

 

The key issues raised by objectors are as follows: 

 Proximity to residential area and loss of amenity 

 Health and safety 

 Impact on ecology 

 Loss of open space public amenity land  

 Contrary to Torquay Neighbourhood Plan  

All these issued are dealt with in the relevant sections of the report.  

 

Summary of Consultation Responses 

Historic England - No objection 

 

Sports Development Manager: Sports facilities in Torbay will struggle in the future to 

cope with increasing demand, increase in housing and our ageing well population. 

Future sports facilities at Nightingale Park are clearly embedded in Torbay’s policy’s 

including the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan and Torbay’s Playing Pitch Strategy. 

 

Torbay Council Senior Tree and Landscape Officer – “It is likely that the 

development proposal can be constructed without significant damage or loss of 

significant amenity value of the tree stock in the area. Greater detail on any planting 

Page 14



proposal will be required this would also include any further tree planting as 

mitigation for the trees removed in W5 and G15. The area is within the designated 

urban wildlife corridor and further comment should be sought on the appropriateness 

of the ecological appraisal.” 

 

Sport England – No comment  

 

Environment Agency - No objection to the proposed development subject to the 

inclusion of a condition, which relates to the management of contaminated land, 

being included on any permission granted. 

 

Devon Wildlife Trust- Object to the planning application because we consider that the 

proposals do not provide sufficient evidence to satisfy the requirements relating to 

biodiversity in the Environment Act 2021, paragraphs 171 and 174d of the National Planning 

Policy Framework or the requirements of the Torbay Local Plan 2012- 2030 and Torbay 

Green Infrastructure Project. 

 

Torbay Council Drainage Engineer – no objection 

 

Torquay Neighbourhood Forum – “The Torquay Neighbourhood Plan Forum 

supports this proposal. As the land is a former landfill site, we consider the location 

of solar panels to be a good use for the site. The Applicant has shared the proposals 

with the Steering Group and we understand that the area will be enhanced as a 

public amenity with maintained footpaths. Provision of solar energy aligns with the 

objectives of CoP26, and should be supported.” 

 

RSPB – No comment  

 

Senior Environmental Health Officer: No objection 

 

DCC Archaeology – No objection  

 

DCC Ecology – No objection, subject to suitable conditions.  

 

Page 15



Natural England –No objection..  

 

SWW – no objection, advice on asset protection provided.  

 

Climate Emergency Officer - “There is a clear and compelling rationale to mitigate 

and adapt to a changing climate, which is why Torbay Council declared a climate 

emergency in June 2019 and committed, to becoming a Carbon Neutral (CN) council 

and working with others to create a carbon neutral community by 2030 (Torbay 

Community and Corporate Plan (2019-2023)).  

 

Nationally the UK is committed to achieving net zero by 2050, and to a 78% 

reduction in greenhouse gases by 2035. A raft of policies and strategies highlight the 

importance of generating clean low/zero carbon energy in meeting these targets. 

Locally this is also reflected in the adopted Torbay Energy and Climate Change 

Strategy (2014-19). 

 

In order to achieve national and local net zero and carbon neutral targets, one of the 

key things we will need to do is to change the way we power our homes and 

businesses.  This will mean rapidly increasing the amount of low carbon and 

renewable energy generated across the UK, including, where appropriate, in Torbay. 

This will be from a range of sources including solar energy.  

 

Currently renewable energy production in Torbay is limited, and mainly from small 

roof mounted solar photovoltaic panels which provide just 1.6% of Torbay’s current 

electricity consumption. This proposed solar scheme on land at Nightingale Park is 

predicted to generate over 3 megawatts of clean electricity through a ground 

mounted solar array. It is proposed that Torbay Hospital will use this electricity 

onsite, with any surpluses fed to the National Grid. Such a scheme will increase the 

amount of clean renewable energy generated and consumed locally.   

 

At present our national energy system is decarbonising but is not yet fully powered 

by renewable energy sources. This results in carbon dioxide being emitted at the 

point of electricity generation. By generating over 3 megawatts of clean electricity, 

Page 16



this proposed scheme will therefore help play a role in reducing Torbay’s carbon 

emissions and help achieve its carbon neutral 2030 target.  

 

However, it should be noted that this scheme will need to meet policy ES2 

Renewable and Low-Carbon Infrastructure of the adopted Torbay Local Plan (2012- 

2030) which states that the Council will support, in principle, proposals for new 

renewable and low-carbon energy generating systems at all scales, including district 

heat and power and community projects. The wider environmental, community and 

economic benefits of proposals of these systems will be given great weight. 

Proposals for renewable and low carbon infrastructure will be considered against 

other Policies in the Local Plan. Development will not be permitted where the 

negative impacts of the proposal outweigh the benefits of the scheme. In particular, 

provision of new renewable energy infrastructure will only be approved where the 

Council has ascertained that it would not have an adverse effect on the integrity of 

any site protected under European legislation.  

 

Noting the results of various ecological assessments and studies, it is suggested that 

planning conditions be placed on the development to ensure biodiversity net gain of 

at least 13% is achieved as well as fully implementing the proposed Landscape and 

Ecology Management Plan.  

 

It is also suggested that where possible the solar panels installed have the lowest 

environmental impact possible and can be recycled/reused once they come to their 

end of life.” 

 

Police Liaison Officer – no objection 

 

Torbay Council Highways Consultant – No objection  

 

Fire Safety Officer - “From a statutory Fire Safety perspective and if the proposal will 

be subject to Building Regulations, then the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 

2005 will likely apply, as such, a statutory consultation will be undertaken between 

the Building Control Body and the Fire Authority at that time.  Under this process, the 

proposal must comply with the functional requirements of Approved Document B of 

the Building Regulations. 

Page 17



I have however, forwarded your email onto my colleagues in the operational risk 

team, who will respond accordingly, if they have any comments to make about fire 

risks.” 

 

Key Issues/Material Considerations 

Planning Officer Assessment 

1. Principle of Development  

2. Visual Impact and Landscaping 

3. Impact on Residential Amenity. 

4. Impact on Highway Safety.  

5. Ecology and Biodiversity 

6. Low Carbon Development and Climate Change 

 

1. Principle of Development 

A key issue in considering the principle of this development is the Local Plan and 

Neighbourhood Plan designations for the site.  

 

The Local Plan allocates the site as ‘An Area of Search for Sports Facilities in 

Torquay’ (Policy SC2.1 - Sports facilities at Brown’s Bridge (The Willows)), this 

allocation draws from the findings presented in the Torbay Play Pitch Strategy 

(2013). This document sets out the strategic direction and site specific priorities for 

the future delivery of playing pitches across Torbay until 2021.  

 

Policy SC2 sets out the criteria for the loss of recreational facilities and states that 

there will be a presumption against loss of existing recreational and leisure facilities, 

unless:  

i) An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 

buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or  

ii) The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent 

or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or  

iii) The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for 

which clearly outweigh the loss. 

 

Page 18



The Play Pitch Strategy has now reached the end of its plan period and no 

applications have been forthcoming on site. A new Playing Pitch Strategy is being 

prepared which will set out the likely need for improvement of existing and additional 

new sports (pitch) facilities.  

 

The submitted Design and Access statement advises that searches of the area have 

shown there are four alternative play pitches within the ‘Area of Search for Sports 

Facilities in Torquay’, including the recently approved play pitch at Combe Pafford 

School, Torquay (Ref: P/2018/0996).  

 

Whilst the proposal does not accord with Policy SC2.1, the solar panels only occupy 

the central area of the site. Therefore, considerable levels of recreation are to be 

retained and enhanced as part of this proposal.  

 

The Torquay Neighbourhood Plan (TNP) allocates the site under Policy TSL2: Sport 

and Leisure – Nightingale Park. This policy advises that the provision of new 

community sports, leisure and recreation facilities will be encouraged at Nightingale 

Park and that new facilities should take into account the environmental quality of the 

existing park. 

 

 The development proposed the retention of the site for recreational means 

and provides enhancements to the main existing pathways. These enhancements 

include providing a permeable gravel surface and widening the existing circular 

paths to a width of 1.8m, currently this is only gravel surfaced along a limited stretch 

of the path network and are relatively narrow in width.  These proposals will provide 

enhanced, all-weather access to Nightingale Park.  

 

 A number of exercise areas with appropriate equipment are proposed 

adjacent to the gravel surfaced paths to provide enhanced recreational opportunities 

for users of the park.  

 

 Having regard to the enhancement measures proposed, it is considered that 

the proposal partially accords with Policy TSL2 of the TNP insofar as it improves the 

Page 19



existing formal footpaths and provides ecological gains. The Torquay Neighbourhood 

Forum have provided a consultation response in favour of the proposal.  

 

 The site doesn’t form part of the employment land allocated by Policy TJ1 of 

the Neighbourhood Plan which is further to the south/south-west however the 

proposal would also provide jobs during the construction phase and as part of the 

ongoing management and monitoring of the site.  

 

Policy SS14 of the Local Plan relates to ‘Low carbon development and adaptation to 

climate change’ and seeks major development to minimise carbon emissions and the 

use of natural resources.  

 

Local Plan Policy ES2 states that the Council will support, in principle, proposals for 

new renewable and low-carbon energy generating systems at all scales, including 

district heat and power and community projects. The wider environmental, 

community and economic benefits of proposals of these systems will be given great 

weight. Proposals for renewable and low-carbon infrastructure will be considered 

against other Policies in the Local Plan. It goes on to advise that development will 

not be permitted where the negative impacts of the proposal outweigh the benefits of 

the scheme. 

 

Chapter 14 of the NPPF relates to meeting the change of climate change, para 152 

states that the planning system should support renewable and low carbon energy 

and associated infrastructure. Torbay Council declared a climate emergency in June 

2019 and committed to becoming a Carbon Neutral council and working with others 

to create a carbon neutral community by 2030 (Torbay Community and Corporate 

Plan (2019-2023)). 

 

The Council’s Climate Emergency Officer has advised that renewable energy 

production in Torbay is currently limited and mainly from small roof mounted solar 

photovoltaic panels which provide just 1.6% of Torbay’s current electricity 

consumption. The proposed solar scheme is predicted to generate 3.2 megawatts of 

clean electricity through a ground mounted solar array. The generation of clean 

Page 20



electricity provided by this scheme will help play a role in reducing Torbay’s carbon 

emissions and help achieve its carbon neutral 2030 target. 

 

As previously noted there is conflict with Policy SC2.1 of the Local Plan however in 

principle, the proposal accords with the development plan and TNP taken as a whole 

and the Climate Emergency and related policies in the Local Plan as well as Chapter 

14 of the NPPF represents material considerations which tip the balance in favour of 

the proposal in principle.  This broad position is however subject to wider policy 

considerations that are relevant to the development proposal, which will be 

discussed in the forthcoming sections of this assessment. 

 

2. Visual Impact and Landscaping 

Policy SS8 states that development proposals outside of the AONB designation (the 

AONB is some 8.7km to the south) will be supported where they conserve or 

enhance the distinctive character of Torbay, or where the impact is commensurate 

with the landscape importance.  

 

The submitted LVIA stated that the site lies wholly within the Torbay Landscape 

Character Assessment Local Landscape Character Type 9, Main Cities and Towns 

and being within an urban area which comprises a mixture of retail, commercial and 

residential buildings interspersed with areas of allotments and cemeteries. 

 

The LVIA describes the development site as having a country park character 

comprising of areas of grassland with scattered scrub and enclosing areas of 

woodland and shrubs. It forms part of a network of local green spaces which are 

identified as an urban wildlife corridor within the Torbay Green Infrastructure Project.  

 

The sites is set on low lying land and local views from publicly accessible locations 

towards the Site from outside its boundaries from the north-west, north, west, south-

west and east are either fully screened or limited by the surrounding woodland 

vegetation. 

 

Views to the Site from adjacent roads are limited to the boundary vegetation. There 

are views from upper storey windows into the northern part of the Site for a limited 

Page 21



number of residential properties located in Orkney Close and filtered views of the 

Site over the shrub belt along the north-eastern boundary from the taller residential 

properties on Orchid Way and to a lesser extent from the commercial units near the 

southern boundary who have filtered views into the southern part of the Site.  

 

Views from the Public Right of Way (PROW) extending from south to north adjacent 

to the western boundary of the Site are limited to that of bordering wooded 

vegetation. Views to the Site from this PROW further north are screened by 

intervening vegetation.  

 

The LVIA informs that there are no views gained of the site from the lower lying 

publicly accessible locations to the east, south-east, south and north-west from mid 

distance and distant land, due to intervening vegetation, built development or 

intervening topography.  

 

There are highly filtered views into the interior of the Site gained from publicly 

accessible locations from elevated land to the north, but these potential viewpoints 

offer only partial, glimpsed views which are restricted by intervening vegetation and 

buildings.  

 

Clearer views are gained from elevated land to the north-east to the Site from 

publicly accessible areas. Partial views are possible from some residential areas on 

elevated land to the north-east, notably from within the Barton district but these 

potential views are generally afforded from private dwellings.  

 

Partial, glimpsed views are possible from elevated land to the west and south-west 

although few are from publicly accessible locations.  

 

Overall the LVIA advises that the proposed scheme will result in a moderate change 

to the landscape character of the site.  However due to the low height of the 

proposed security fencing, lighting columns, solar array and cabins and the proposed 

planting measures, there will be no noticeable loss to the distinctive local and wider 

context landscape character areas as a result of the proposed development. 

  

Page 22



 The LVIA includes measures of mitigation and advises that whilst the 

development would integrate into the local landscape character setting and is 

screened from much of the local area, some new hedgerow planting is proposed. 

This is primarily to provide screening of views of the solar arrays and associated 

security fence from the adjacent foothpaths. The hedge would be a 1.5m wide native 

species hedgerow which will be allowed to grow up to a height of 3m to ensure that 

the security fence and solar arrays are concealed from view from the circular 

permissive path once the hedgerow has become established. The area within the 

security fence where the solar arrays are proposed will be seeded with a wildflower 

grassland mix.  

 

The kiosk cabins have been carefully sited close to the near the southern edge of the 

solar arrays area of the Site where they will be well screened by proposed hedgerow 

in time. 

 

The proposal would result in the loss open space/amenity land in the central area of 

the site, this land does not appear to be formally used as amenity land and consists 

of large areas of bramble. Nonetheless this would have an impact on open character 

of the area experienced by users of the recreational paths around the site. This is 

somewhat mitigated by additional hedge planting and improvements to the existing 

pathways. Although there would be some harm caused by the loss of the open 

character, it is not considered to cause an unacceptable level of loss of character to 

the area.  

 

There is a requirement to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 

enhancing the setting of listed buildings, and in terms of this development there is a 

Grade II Listed Building (163 Newton Road) some 400m to the south and a small 

group of Grade II Listed Buildings located within the southern part of the Torquay 

Cemetery which is some 440m to the south-east of the site. Given the distance, 

topography and intervening vegetation and roads, it is considered that the proposals 

would result in no harm to the significance of the Grade II Listed Buildings, in 

accordance with the NPPF.  

 

Page 23



It is considered that the proposed appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of the 

development would not result in unacceptable harm to the character of the area. 

Based on the information provided, the proposed development is, for the reasons 

above, considered to provide a satisfactory form of development in accordance with 

Policies SS8 and C1 of the Torbay Local Plan, Policy TE4 of the TNP and the NPPF. 

 

3. Impact on Residential and Local Infrastructure Amenity 

Policy DE3 of the Torbay Local Plan states that development should not unduly 

impact upon the amenity of neighbouring occupiers and surrounding users, the 

closest of which are to the north and north-east of the application site.   

 

A Glint and Glare Assessment has been submitted with the application which 

assesses the possible effects of glint and glare from the proposed solar panels on 

surrounding dwellings and road users. This concluded that there would be no 

significant impacts and so subsequently no mitigation measures were required.  

 

In terms of roads, the assessment advises that the glint and glare modelling has 

shown that any solar reflections are geometrically possible along a 1km section of 

Riviera Way. However given the topography and intervening vegetation, there are no 

effects predicted to be experienced to any road users along this section of Riviera 

Way.  

 

The glint and glare modelling has shown that solar reflections are geometrically 

possible towards 9 dwellings. However, the assessment predicts that no effects will 

be experienced by an observer in any of the dwellings in practice due to intervening 

screening in the form of existing intervening vegetation.  

 

The proposed development would be monitored externally and would not require 

permanent staff to operate it. The Fire Brigades Fire Safety Officer has advised that 

from a statutory Fire Safety perspective and if the proposal will be subject to Building 

Regulations, then the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 will likely apply, 

as such, a statutory consultation will be undertaken between the Building Control 

Body and the Fire Authority at that time. Under this process, the proposal must 

comply with the functional requirements of Approved Document B of the Building 

Page 24



Regulations. The fire safety aspect of the proposal will therefore fall outside of the 

considerations of this planning application.  

 

The construction phase will naturally result in some temporary impacts however this 

can be reduced by a condition requiring the submission of a Construction Method 

Statement which includes a restriction on the hours of construction and requires 

details of delivery and construction movement and parking to be submitted and 

approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to development.  

 

In summary the proposal is deemed to provide a satisfactory form of development in 

terms of protecting the amenities of neighbouring occupiers, in accordance with 

Policy DE3 of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

4. Impact on Highway Safety 

The NPPF guides that in assessing sites that may be allocated for development in 

plans, or specific applications for development, it should be ensured that a) 

appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be - or have 

been - taken up, given the type of development and its location; b) safe and suitable 

access to the site can be achieved for all users; and c) any significant impacts from 

the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or 

on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree (Para 

108). It also furthers (Para 109) that development should only be prevented or 

refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 

safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  

 

Policy TA2 of the Torbay Local Plan states that all development should make 

appropriate provision for works and/or contributions to ensure an adequate level of 

accessibility and safety, and to satisfy the transport needs of the development.   

 

Access to the site from the adopted public highway is currently achieved via a gated 

entrance in the north eastern corner off Barton Hill Way. The access is shared with 

the existing businesses premises located of Barton Hill Way. 

 

Page 25



Access to the fenced off solar panel area of the site will be required for maintenance 

purposes only, both for grounds maintenance (grass cutting, hedge trimming etc.) 

and equipment maintenance. The wider area of public open space is to remain 

accessible to the public throughout the construction and operational phases. 

 

The Councils Highways consultant have advised that the applicant has submitted a 

drawing which illustrates an ‘X’ distance of 2.4m and a ‘Y’ distance of 33m which 

extends to the junction of Barton Hill Way. Considering the small and infrequent 

quantum of trips generated by the site this is considered acceptable.  

 

The applicant has submitted a drawing which illustrates an HGV accessing and 

egressing the site in a forward gear. This is considered acceptable. It is noted that 

the HGV is larger than an emergency service vehicle, therefore the swept path 

analysis for the HGV is acceptable for the emergency service vehicle. The applicant 

has also submitted a drawing which illustrates an HGV 4 Axle Rigid Lorry (32T) 

accessing the site in a forward gear, utilising a turning head within the site layout and 

egressing the site in a forward gear which is considered to be acceptable.  

 

The proposal is considered acceptable on highway and movements grounds, and in 

accordance with the Policy TA2 of the Torbay Local Plan and the NPPF. 

 

5. Ecology & Biodiversity  

Policy NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan and guidance within the NPPF seeks for 

development to duly consider biodiversity and take opportunities for enhancement, 

proportionate to the context and development. 

 

One statutory designated site is located within 2km of the Site, namely Lummaton 

Quarry Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). Lummaton Quarry SSSI is located 

c.620m east of the Site and is designated for its palaeontological interest. 

The Site lies outside of the Sustenance Zone (core foraging area) or Landscape 

Connectivity Zones for Greater Horseshoe bats associated with South Hams SAC. 

 

Page 26



A Phase 1 habitat survey was undertaken of the application site in September 2020 

and updated in June 2021. Potential for a range of protected species was noted and 

subsequent Phase 2 surveys undertaken.  

 

Part of the site forms Barton West UWS (unconfirmed wildlife site). The eastern 

areas of the Site, including woodlands on the eastern margin and south-eastern area 

of grassland and scrub forming part of the proposed solar farm area, was identified 

as a UWS, however it is not considered by the consultant ecologist to meet criteria 

for selection as a CWS (county wildlife site). 

 

An appropriately detailed UK Habitat Classification survey was carried out to classify 

the grassland, which assessed the grassland as having greatest affinity to NVC MG1 

and MG10 which are not the types of grassland that would meet the criteria in the 

CWS selection guidelines in Devon.  

 

The central areas of the Site are dominated by relatively species-rich neutral 

grassland established on previously disturbed ground including the landfill cap. 

Whilst grasses and Hard Rush dominate the sward, there is a good range of herbs 

present. The proposed development would result in the loss of the majority of semi-

improved grassland established on the landfill cap in the central area of the Site – 

approximately 3.85ha.  

 

The landscape scheme for the solar farm includes the establishment of species-rich 

native grassland across the majority of the solar farm footprint and the enhancement 

of the surrounding woodland habitats. Much of the central area of the landfill cap is 

regularly damp due to impeded drainage and, therefore, an appropriate wet meadow 

seed mix is proposed. The loss of semi-improved grassland habitat units are to be 

mitigated for by enhancement and creation of habitat elsewhere on site.  

 

Areas of dense scrub and scattered woody shrubs occur throughout the Site. The 

scrub is considered to be in poor condition, with bramble the most abundant species 

forming dense stands of scrub encroaching from the margins of woodland and 

spreading into areas of open mosaic and grassland habitats in the central and 

northern areas of the Site, 1.85ha of this habitat will be lost to development.  

Page 27



 

It is proposed to enhance the broadleaved plantation woodland habitats on the 

margins of the Site and wider Management Area within Nightingale Park to improve 

their structure and diversity and the creation of a new species-rich native hedgerow 

along the perimeter fence surrounding the solar farm.  

 

Habitats in the northernmost area of the Site include species-rich grassland 

supporting 5 Devon notable plant species and, therefore, meet criteria for selection 

as a County Wildlife Site. This area meets criteria as ‘open mosaic habitats on 

previously developed land’ Habitat of Principal Importance as it supports a mosaic of 

early-successional habitats (species-rich grassland) and bare ground. The proposed 

development would result in the loss of c.812m² of this habitat around the northern 

edge of the landfill cap. This small area, however, contributes little to the overall 

value of the whole habitat being mostly trampled grassland and bare ground with 

rougher grassland along edges where scrub is encroaching.  

 

The areas of highest value of this habitat will be retained and managed 

appropriately. Retained habitats will be adequately protected during construction 

using suitable fencing and/or clear signage where appropriate to prevent damage to 

vegetation and soil by vehicles/ machinery. All construction materials will be stored in 

designated areas, such as the site construction compound. 

 

Bat activity surveys were undertaken between April and October 2020 in line with 

published national guidelines. Boundary features are to be retained and enhanced, 

alongside the implementation of complimentary new native hedge banks. Species 

rich wet grassland creation in the central areas of the Site will maintain and 

potentially improve the quality of habitat for bat species over the landfill capped area.  

 

The ecology net gain proposed consists of:  

- New hedgerow planting within the on-site area (none existing) will result in an 

increase of 7.36 hedgerow units.  

- Proposed enhancement of 3.28ha of woodland habitat within the wider Nightingale 

Park ownership boundary, will result in an off-site unit surplus gain of 11.42 units. 

This enhancement will be achieved through the implementation of a long-term 

Page 28



management strategy for the Site. This offsite land is owned by the applicant and 

within the blue line boundary.  

- It is expected that the grassland type to be provided between the solar panels (Other 

Neutral Grassland of ‘medium’ distinctiveness) can achieve ‘moderate’ condition as 

the criteria that need to be passed to achieve this condition generally relate to 

characteristics that can be modified through correct management which has been 

adequality detailed in the submitted LEMP. With the prescribed management 

measures, ‘good’ condition may even be achievable, this is deemed appropriate by 

the LPA ecologist.  

- The area of species-rich grassland meeting CWS selection criteria will also be retained 

and subject to long-term management to maintain its high ecological value – given the 

existing value of this habitat, this habitat cannot be ‘enhanced’ under the metric, but 

its retention and management for 30 years will offer biodiversity benefits.  

 

Overall, the submitted Biodiversity Net Gain report (Burton Reid Associates) states 

this will result in a net gain of 5.99 habitat units (13.72% gain) and 7.36 hedgerow 

units (100+ %) at the Site. The LPA ecologist supports the habitat creation and 

enhancement measures proposed.  

 

Whilst it is noted that there is an objection from the Devon Wildlife Trust on the 

information provided, further information has been submitted which the LPA’s 

ecologist considers to be acceptable. The mitigation measures proposed have been 

deemed acceptable and provide an acceptable level of management and biodiversity 

net gain to the site.  

 

In light of the foregoing the proposal's ecological impacts are considered acceptable, 

having regard to Policy C4 and NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan.  

 

6. Low Carbon Development and Climate Change 

Policy SS14 of the Local Plan relates to ‘Low carbon development and adaptation to 

climate change’ and seeks major development to minimise carbon emissions and the 

use of natural resources.    

 

Page 29



As noted earlier in this report, Local Plan Policy ES2 states that the Council will 

support, in principle, proposals for new renewable and low-carbon energy generating 

systems at all scales, including district heat and power and community projects. The 

wider environmental, community and economic benefits of proposals of these systems 

will be given great weight. Proposals for renewable and low-carbon infrastructure will 

be considered against other Policies in the Local Plan. It goes on to advise that 

development will not be permitted where the negative impacts of the proposal 

outweigh the benefits of the scheme. 

 

The proposal is predicted to generate 3.2 megawatts of clean electricity which will help 

play a role in reducing Torbay’s carbon emissions and help achieve its carbon neutral 

2030 target. 

 

The development is in accordance with Policy SS14 and ES2 of the Torbay Local Plan, 

Policy TS1 of Torquay Neighbourhood Plan and advice contained within the NPPF.  

 

Other matters 

There is no clear evidence to suggest that electro-magnetic radiation or fire risk 

present a significant risk to health and safety and are not reasons which could 

reasonably be used to refuse the grant of planning permission. 

 

Sustainability 

Policy SS3 of the Local Plan establishes the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. The NPPF definition of sustainability has three aspects which are 

economic, social and environmental. Each of which shall be discussed in turn. 

 

The Economic Role  

Energy produced by the solar farm will be fed back into the grid to provide clean energy 

for Torbay Hospital, reducing its energy costs.   

 

There are no adverse economic impacts that would arise from this development. 

 

Page 30



In respect of the economic element of sustainable development the balance is 

considered to be in favour of the development through providing lower cost energy to 

the hospital. 

 

The Social Role  

The generation of clean electricity provided by this scheme will help play a role in 

reducing Torbay’s carbon emissions and help achieve its carbon neutral 2030 target.    

 

On balance, the social impacts of the development weigh in favour of the development. 

 

The Environmental role  

With respect to the environmental role, the proposal would provide clean electricity to 

aid in fighting climate change. The proposal also includes ecological and landscape 

improvements. The generation of clean electricity provided by this scheme will help 

play a role in reducing Torbay’s carbon emissions and help achieve its carbon neutral 

2030 target. 

 

It is concluded that the environmental impacts of the development weigh positively 

within the planning balance. 

 

Sustainability Conclusion 

Having regard to the above assessment the proposed development is considered to 

represent sustainable development. 

 

EIA 

As the site is over 5ha in area an Environment Impact Assessment screening was 

undertaken, the result of this was that the proposal did not require an EIA. 

 

Planning Balance 

The planning assessment considers the policy and material considerations in detail. 

It should be noted that the local plan does not allocate specific sites for 

developments such as this and so inevitably there is likely to be some conflict when 

the proposal is considered against other policies.  Instead Policy ES2 requires that 

the wider environmental, community and economic benefits of proposals be given 

Page 31



great weight and that development will not be permitted where the negative impacts 

of the proposal outweigh the benefits of the scheme. 

 

It is considered that the scheme would address the Development Plan aspiration 

towards sustainable development and the Councils Climate Emergency status and 

notwithstanding some conflict with Policy SC2 of the Local Plan, would produce a 

positive impact overall and help with the supply of clean energy thus reducing Torbay’s 

carbon emissions.   

 

Statement on Human Rights and Equalities Issues 

Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of 

the Human Rights Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of 

the Act itself. This Act gives further effect to the rights included in the European 

Convention on Human Rights. In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has 

been given to the applicant's reasonable development rights and expectations which 

have been balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as 

expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central 

Government Guidance. 

 

Equalities Act - In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the 

provisions of the Equalities Act 2010, particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty and 

Section 149. The Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies to have due regard to the 

need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between different people when carrying out their activities. Protected 

characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 

race/ethnicity, religion or belief (or lack of), sex and sexual orientation. 

 

Conclusions and Reasons for Decision 

The proposal is considered acceptable in principle and would not result in 

unacceptable harm to the character of the area, local amenity., heritage assets, 

biodiversity or highway impacts.  It will have positive environmental benefits including 

the provision of renewable energy and biodiversity net gain. 

 

Page 32



The proposed development is considered to represent sustainable development and 

is acceptable, having regard to the Torbay Local Plan, the Torquay Neighbourhood 

Plan, the NPPF, and all other material considerations.  

 

Officer Recommendation 

Approval: Subject to; 

 

The conditions as outlined below with the final drafting of conditions delegated to the 

Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency; 

 

The resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light following 

Planning Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing 

and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any necessary further planning 

conditions or obligations. 

 

Conditions  

Siting, form and materials 

Solar Panels and the associated infrastructure shall only be located in the area of the 

site as indicated on the approved drawings and the details of the solar panels, security 

fencing, lighting columns, solar array and cabinets including height and materials shall 

accord with the approved details at all times. 

 

Reason:  In the interests of amenity and biodiversity in accordance with Policies DE1, 

DE3 and NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

CMS 

No development shall take place until a site specific Construction Management Plan 

has been submitted to and been approved in writing by the Council. The plan must 

demonstrate the adoption and use of the best practicable means to reduce the 

effects of noise, & dust. The plan should include, but not be limited to:  

 

o Procedures for maintaining good neighbour relations including complaint 

management.  

Page 33



o All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, or at such 

other place as may be agreed with the Local Planning Authority, shall be carried out 

only between the following hours:  

 

08:00 Hours and 18:00 Hours on Mondays to Fridays and 08:00 and 13:00 Hours on 

Saturdays and at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 

  

o Deliveries to and removal of plant, equipment, machinery and waste from the site 

must only take place within the permitted hours detailed above.  

o Mitigation measures as defined in BS 5528: Parts 1 and 2 : 2009 Noise and Vibration 

Control on Construction and Open Sites shall be used to minimise noise disturbance 

from construction works.  

o Control measures for dust. 

 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of surrounding occupiers during the 

construction of the development and in accordance with Policy DE3 of the Local 

Plan. This information is required prior to development in order to ensure that the 

construction phase of the development does not have an adverse impact on 

residential amenity.   

 

Removal of Redundant Equipment 

After the 25 year project period the solar panel apparatus and associated structures 

hereby approved shall be permanently removed from the site and the land shall be 

reinstated to its former condition or in accordance with details to be previously agreed 

with the Council. 

 

Reason: To comply with Policy C1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

Landscaping  

Notwithstanding the approved landscaping strategy, prior to the first use of the 

development hereby approved, a scheme of hard and soft landscaping shall been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority All planting, 

seeding or turfing comprised within the approved scheme shall be carried out in the 

first planting season following the completion of the development and any trees or 

Page 34



plants which within a period of 5 years from completion of the development die, are 

removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next 

available planting season with others of a similar size and the same species. The 

approved hard landscaping details shall be provided within 8 weeks of the 

development being brought into use and shall be retained for the life of the 

development.  

  

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH8 of the Adopted Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030.  

 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area and in accordance with Policies 

SS8, SS9, C4 and NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

Ecology - Nesting season  

The removal of vegetation shall be undertaken outside of the bird nesting season 

(March-September inclusive).  If not practicable demolition and/or vegetation removal 

shall be undertaken only immediately following an inspection of the site by a suitably 

qualified ecologist to confirm the absence of nesting birds.  If nests are found no works 

shall be undertaken until the birds have fledged and a buffer zone of at least 5 metres 

must be established around the nest and an effective barrier put in place to ensure 

this remains undisturbed   

  

Reason:  To ensure due protection is afforded to wildlife, in accordance with Policy 

NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and the NPPF.  

 

Tree Protection Measures  

Prior to the commencement of development, the tree protection measures outlined in 

approved tree protection plan shall be implemented in full.  The approved protection 

measures shall be maintained in full throughout the construction phase of the 

development.  

  

Reason:  In order to ensure against harm to mature trees within the vicinity of the 

development either directly or to their rooting system, in accordance with Policies DE1 

Page 35



and C4 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.  These details are required to be 

implemented prior to commencement to ensure protection measures are in place prior 

to potential harmful construction works commencing on site.  

 

Arboricultural Method Statement  

Prior to the commencement of development an Arboricultural Method 

Statement (AMS) pertaining to but not exclusively, excavation works in the RPA, the 

sequence of operations and site inspection frequency, timings of site visits, shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 

development shall proceed in full accordance with the approved AMS.  

  

Reason:  In order to ensure against harm to mature trees within the vicinity of the 

development either directly or to their rooting system, in accordance with Policy C4 of 

the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.  These details are required to be implemented prior 

to commencement to ensure protection measures are in place prior to potential 

harmful construction works commencing on site.  

 

Ecology Accordance  

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the actions set out in the 

Ecological Impact Assessment (Burton Reid Associates, March 2022) and the 

submitted Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (Burton Reid Associates, March 

2022) The assessment and the management plan shall ensure a biodiversity net gain 

of at least 13% is achieved and be implemented in full for the lifetime of the 

development. 

 

Reason:  To secure a satisfactory form of development in accordance with Policies 

SS8 and NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.  

 

Grassland Seed Mix 

The areas of species-rich grassland shown on the approved landscaping strategy will 

be prepared and sown with seed/ green hay collected grassland from within the Site 

supplemented by an additional species-rich grassland mix of local provenance if not 

enough seed can be collected. The seed mix used will be agreed in writing by the 

Council.   

Page 36



 

Reason:  To secure a satisfactory form of development in accordance with Policies 

SS8 and NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.  

 

Lighting  

Notwithstanding the approved scheme, no external lighting shall be installed at the 

application site at any time without the written permission of the Council. Any future 

lighting design must be provided in writing to the Council by an appropriately 

experienced ecologist and the approved scheme shall be retained as such throughout 

the lifetime of the development.  

 

Reason:  To ensure due protection is afforded to wildlife, in accordance with Policy 

NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and the NPPF.  

 

Boundary Treatment for Hedgehogs 

Prior to the installation of the solar panels hereby approved, details of boundary 

features which include suitable mitigation for hedgehogs will be submitted to the 

Council for approval in writing.  Development shall take place in accordance with the 

approved details. 

 

Reason:  To ensure due protection is afforded to wildlife, in accordance with Policy 

NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and the NPPF.  

 

CEcoMP 

Prior to the commencement of development (including ground works, vegetation 

clearance) a Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEcoMP) shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEcoMP shall be 

prepared in accordance with specifications in BS42020; clause 10.2 and shall include 

the following.  

a)  Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 

b)  Identification of 'biodiversity protection zones'. 

c)  Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) 

to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method 

statements). 

Page 37



d)  The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features. 

This includes the use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 

e)  The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on 

site to monitor works to ensure compliance with the CEcoMP, and the actions that will 

be undertaken. 

f)  Responsible persons and lines of communication. 

g)  The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or 

similarly competent person. 

 

The approved CEcoMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 

construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise 

agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 

 

Reason:  To secure a satisfactory form of development in accordance with Policies 

SS2 and NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. This needs to be a pre-

commencement condition to ensure appropriate mitigation at all stages of 

development. 

 

Badgers 

Prior to the commencement of any site works, a repeat survey for the presence of 

badgers on the site and surrounding suitable habitat, with associated 

mitigation/compensation measures if required, shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority. 

 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area and in the interests of 

biodiversity in accordance with Policy NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. This 

needs to be a pre-commencement condition to ensure appropriate mitigation at all 

stages of development. 

 

Drainage  

The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the submitted flood risk 

assessment received 20.10.2021, unless an alternative means of surface water 

drainage is submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 

Page 38



the commencement of development.  Once provided the drainage scheme shall be 

retained and maintained for the life of the development. 

 

Reason: In the interests of adapting to climate change and managing flood risk, and 

in order to accord with saved Policy ER1 and ER2 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 

and the guidance contained in the NPPF. 

 

Exercise Equipment  

Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, full details of the locations 

and types of exercise equipment proposed to be provided within the site shall be 

submitted to the LPA for approval in writing. The approved exercise equipment shall 

be provided within 8 weeks of the development being brought into use and shall be 

retained and maintained for the life of the development.  

 

Reason: In order to provide suitable recreation equipment in accordance with Policy 

TSL2 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan.  

 

Contaminated Land 

No development approved by this planning permission shall commence until a 

remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site in 

respect of the development hereby permitted, has been submitted to, and approved in 

writing by, the local planning authority. This strategy will include the following 

components:  

1. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:  

• all previous uses  

• potential contaminants associated with those uses  

• a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors  

• potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site  

 

2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 

assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off-site  

 

Page 39



3. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in 

(2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full 

details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.  

 

4. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 

demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete and 

identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 

maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.  

 

Any changes to these components require the written consent of the local planning 

authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.  

 

Reason: The proposed development site is located on an area mapped as a historical 

landfill site. The supporting documentation does not include any assessment of risks 

associated with development on the historic landfill site and therefore, the proposed 

development will only be acceptable if the aforementioned planning condition is 

included on any permission granted, requiring the submission of a remediation 

strategy. This should be carried out by a competent person in line with paragraph 183 

of the National Planning Policy Framework. This is required prior to development in 

order to ensure the proposal accords with paragraph 174 of the National Planning 

Policy Framework and to ensure that the development will not be put at unacceptable 

risk from, or be adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution. 

 

Relevant Policies 

SS3 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

SS9 - Green Infrastructure 

SS14 - Low Carbon Development and Adaptation to Climate Change 

TA1 - Transport and accessibility 

TA2 - Development access 

DE3 - Development Amenity 

ER3 - Contamination 

ES1 - Energy 

ES2 – Renewable and low-carbon infrastructure 

C1 - Countryside and the rural economy 

Page 40



C4 - Trees, hedgerows and natural landscape features 

NC1 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

DE3 - Development Amenity 

SC1 - Healthy Bay 

SC2 - Sport, Leisure and Recreation 

HE1 – Listed Buildings 

TSL2 – Sport and Leisure  

 

Page 41



 

Application Site Address Municipal Chambers, Union Street, Torquay 

Proposal Conversion of upper floors and former public 
conveniences to form ten 1-2 bed apartments, cycle 
and bin storage. Creation of courtyard extension and 
relocation of three windows on south elevation. 

Application Number  P/2022/0089 

Applicant Mr E.K Richardson 

Agent Kay Elliott Architects 

Date Application Valid 3rd March 2022 

Decision Due date 2nd June 2022 

Extension of Time Date N/A 

Recommendation  Approval: Subject to planning conditions as outlined 
within the report and final consultation response from 
the Environment Agency confirming no objection. 
 
The final drafting of conditions and addressing any 
further material considerations that may come to light 
to be delegated to the Divisional Director - Planning, 
Housing & Climate Emergency 

Reason for Referral to 
Planning Committee 

The application has been referred to Planning 
Committee because it is a major application. 

Planning Case Officer Jim Blackwell 

 

 

Page 42

Agenda Item 6

https://publicaccess.torbay.gov.uk/view/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


Site Details 

Municipal Chambers lies in a prominent position on the corner of Union Street within 

the Upton Conservation Area. The site is bounded by Castle Lane to the north east, 

Castle Circus to the north and Union Street to the west and south.  

 

Torquay Town Hall, a Grade II listed building is located immediately opposite to the 

north. Municipal Chambers dates from the late 19th Century and is one of a group of 

mid-late 19th and early–late 20th Century public and commercial buildings set around 

the Town Hall. It is constructed of brick, with a slate roof and a circular tower containing 

the original staircase. All windows retain their timber sashes with horizontal glazing 

bars.  

 

The ground floor has seen a number of units come and go, most recently a small café 

facing Castle Circus. The upper three floors are empty, but have been used previously 

as business space and most recently as a language school. The building requires 

substantial repair, renovation and its full occupancy would resolve any continued 

deterioration. 

 

Description of Development 

The application is for the following: 

 10 residential dwellings comprising six no. 2 bed apartments and four no. 1 bed 

apartments.  

 Retention of two commercial units on the ground floor. 

 A vertical extension to the third floor is proposed to the rear of the building to 

replace a dilapidated outbuilding.  

 All apartments will be accessed from one main entrance utilizing the existing 

doorway. A lobby will lead into the stairwell for access to floors one to three. 

The lobby would also provide a disabled access lift, cycle store, plant room and 

access to a ground floor apartment.  

 Internal floor heights would need to be adjusted to provide level access to a 

bike store, lift and apartment across the basement.  

 A separate bin store would be accessed from an existing exterior door.  

 At the south side of the property is a courtyard which would be reinstated to 

provide exterior space for the ground floor apartment and to increase light into 

the basement.  

 Two existing windows on the east elevation will be raised to align with the rest 

of the windows on the facade. This is to provide light into the new 

accommodation floor plan located in the pre-existing back staircase.  

 The existing blocked door to be replaced with two windows to match existing 

and provide light into the basement.  

 Materials such as bricks and lintels would be reused. 

 

Pre-Application Enquiry 

The proposal was not subject to pre-application discussions. 

 

Relevant Planning Policy Context  

Page 43



Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a duty on 

local planning authorities to determine proposals in accordance with the development 

plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The following development 

plan policies and material considerations are relevant to this application: 

 

Development Plan 

- The Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 (The Local Plan) 

- The Adopted Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030 

 

Material Considerations 

- National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

- Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

- Published standing advice 

- The need to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the setting of 

nearby listed and to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 

enhancing the character or appearance of a conservation area. 

 

Planning matters relevant to the case under consideration, including the following 

advice and representations, planning history, and other matters referred to in this 

report. 

 

Relevant Planning History  

P/1994/1342: Modernisation of public toilets. Approved 16/01/1995 

 

P/1994/1343: Modernisation of public toilets. Approved 10/01/1995 

 

P/2006/1236: Conversion of upper floors to form 12 one bedroom flats. Approved 

17/04/2007 

 

Summary of Representations  

 

 

Summary of Consultation Responses 

 

Devon County Council Ecology: 

No objection subject to submission of a Construction and Environmental Management 

Plan and the development is carried out in accordance with the submitted Ecology 

report. 

 

Neighbourhood Plan Forum: 

No response received. 

 

Environment Agency: 

No comments received at the date of writing this report. 

 

Natural England: 

Page 44



No comment received. 

 

Highways: 

No objection. 

 

Drainage Engineer: 

No objection subject to the development being carried out in accordance with the 

Flood Risk Assessment. 

 

South West Water: 

No objection. 

 

Devon and Cornwall Police: 

No objection subject to details on access and entry control measures being installed. 

 
Senior Environmental Health Officer:  
No objection. 
 
Waste Client Officer: 
No objection. The space allocated as a bin store is adequate for refuse and recycling 
for 10 flats.  Although all of the 240 litre bins have been marked as being for residual 
waste, approximately half of those would be for recycling and food waste. 
 
SWISCo’s Collections Managers have advised that waste collection would be from 
Castle Lane, rather than outside the bin store. 
 
As a communal recycling and waste arrangement is proposed for the site, waste 
management contributions are suggested. 
 
Key Issues/Material Considerations 

 

Planning Officer Assessment 

 

1. Principle of Development  

2. Design and Visual Impact 

3. Heritage Assets 

4. Residential Amenity 

5. Highway Safety 

6. Ecology and Biodiversity 

7. Drainage and Flood Risk  

8. Low Carbon Development 

9. Other Considerations 

 

1. Principle of Development  

There are a range of commercial, retail and residential uses around the site and the 

proposed use is therefore considered acceptable. The site is close to services and 

facilities and presents the efficient use of brownfield land that would help meet housing 

Page 45



need and the Council's 3 year housing supply.  This accords with the objectives of 

Policies H1 (Applications for new homes), SS11 (Sustainable communities), SS12 

(Housing) and SS13 (Five year housing supply) of the Local Plan.   

 

Local Plan Policy SS1 sets out a growth strategy for a prosperous Torbay, supports 

regeneration that creates sustainable living, working and leisure environments, and 

seeks delivery of homes. Policy SS12 emphasises the importance of regeneration of 

brownfield sites and town centre sites in contributing to housing supply.  

 

Local Plan Policy H1 states that proposals for new homes in the built-up areas of 

Torbay will be supported (subject to other Plan policies); promotes re-use of brownfield 

land and urban regeneration; and seeks to reduce the need to travel by car. The 

Torquay Neighbourhood Plan Policy TS4 states that development proposals for 

brownfield sites will be supported in principle. 

 

Local Plan Policy TC1 focuses on the three town centres of Torquay, Paignton and 

Brixham and refers to the Torquay town centre Masterplan SPD. Neighbourhood Plan 

Policy TS2 states that major development proposals within the town centre will be 

supported where they conform to the Masterplans adopted by the Council. The 

Masterplan identifies a zone surrounding Fleet Walk, within which the application site 

is located, to “maximise residential uses to increase footfall in the Town Centre”.   

 

The Council cannot demonstrate a 3 year housing land supply. The site is within the 

built-up area and would help to address the need to provide a range of homes and 

would contribute to housing delivery. Therefore, given its highly sustainable, town 

centre location, the proposed redevelopment is supported in principle by Local Plan 

Policies H1, SS11, SS12, SS13, SDT2 and TC1, by Neighbourhood Plan Policies TS2 

and TS4.  

 

2. Design and Visual Impact 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that 'good design is a key 

aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work 

and helps make development acceptable to communities'. In addition, it states that 

'permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the 

opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way 

it functions'. Policy DE1 Design of the Local Plan states that proposals will be 

assessed against a range of criteria relating to their function, visual appeal, and quality 

of public space. Policy TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan states that 

development must be of good quality design, respect the local character and reflect 

the identity of its surroundings. 

 

The proposal aims at sensitively repairing and converting the building to bring it back 

into full use. The north and north west elevation remain largely unaltered other than 

works to improve the windows and doors and the removal of the existing signs and 

canopy. The north east elevation introduces opaque windows to the blocked up 

windows on the ground floor to enable light into the basement level. The left hand bay 

Page 46



rising up Castle Road requires the windows to be realigned to match to changing floor 

levels. The windows would match the existing timber frames. 

 

The rear elevation to the south would remove an existing dilapidated outbuilding and 

replace it with a new extension the full height of the building. This would be modest in 

scale, but create additional room within the units for an ensuite on each floor. An 

internal courtyard would also be created on the ground floor. The rear elevation would 

be presented by a blank rendered elevation with the internal wall providing narrow, 

vertical openings to serve the rooms. 

 

All the external changes reflect the sensitivities of the original building whilst removing 

features which are considered unsympathetic. The proposed extension is considered 

appropriate in terms of scale, massing and materials. Its simple design approach will 

have a minimal impact on the streetscene. 

 

Internally, the layout would be kept as simple as possible with access gained from the 

existing doorway on to Castel Circus. The lobby would link to the stairwell, with level 

access into the ground floor unit, bin store, secure cycle storage and a lift. 

 

Given the overall proposal’s siting, scale, and design, it is considered to be acceptable 

and without unacceptable detriment to the character and appearance of the locality or 

street scene. The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policy 

DE1 of the Local Plan, Policy TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan and the 

guidance contained in the NPPF.    

 

3. Heritage Assets 

NPPF (2021) provides guidance as to when considering the impact of a proposed 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should 

be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater 

the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 

substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance (Para 199). 

The NPPF further states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 

heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 

setting), should require clear and convincing justification (Paragraph 200). It guides 

that where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 

significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the 

public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum 

viable use (Paragraph 202). 

 

In terms of the Local Development Plan, it is guided that development proposals 

should have special regard to the desirability of preserving heritage assets and their 

setting (Policies SS10 and HE1 of the Local Plan). This is aligned with the duties for 

decisions as required by section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990, where decisions shall have special regard to the desirability of 

preserving a listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 

historic interest which it possesses.   

Page 47



 

The site lies within the Upton Conservation Area. It is noted as dating from the late 

19th century and an important and sensitive building attractively decorated, with a 

continuous frontage, stair turret and oriels. It makes a positive contribution to the 

character and appearance of the Conservation Area, and the Conservation Area 

Appraisal identifies Municipal Chambers as a key building which makes a significant 

contribution to the townscape. It also lies directly opposite the Town Hall, a grade II 

listed building. No. 2 Tor Hill Road is also grade II listed and lies to the west of the site. 

Any changes to the building would therefore impact on the setting of these buildings. 

 

The proposal aims to conserve the historic fabric and character of the building. There 

would be a sensitive approach taken to renovating, repairing and de-cluttering the 

street façades. The insertion of double glazing within the existing timber frames would 

retain the character of this element of the building. The repair and where needed, 

replacement of doors and windows on a like for like basis would also improve the 

character of the building. 

 

The proposed extension although modest in scale would be visible against the 

backdrop of the Town Hall when seen from Castle Road. The blank rendered elevation 

would have a positive impact on the setting of the building and is therefore considered 

appropriate. 

 

The proposal is considered to enhance the setting of the Upton Conservation Area. It 

would comply with the NPPF, Policies HE1 and SS10 of the Local Plan and Policy 

TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan which together requires that development 

respects the character of the built environment including areas and buildings of historic 

interest. 

 

4. Residential Amenity 

The supporting text to policy DE3 of the Local Plan seeks to achieve a minimum size 

for dwellings, gardens and better designed homes.  

 

The proposal would include provision of level access into the building, through the 

lobby and to a disabled lift. The ground floor bin store and cycle store are at an 

appropriate level to serve the occupants. 

 

The newly inserted windows would not cause any intervisibility between occupants. 

 

Future Occupants 

The proposal comprises 4no. 1 bed units of between 44-47m2 and 6 no. 2 bed units 

of between 60-70m2. The technical housing standards, nationally described space 

standard, sets out the minimum area requirements for new build dwellings. For a 1 

bedroom apartment the required area is 37m2 for 1 person apartment and 50m2 for a 

2 person apartment. A 2 bedroom apartment requires 61m2 for a 3 person apartment 

and 70m2 for a 4 person apartment. 

 

Page 48



A number of the apartments fall marginally short of the minimum area requirements, 

however the following has been taken into consideration: 

 The proposal involves adapting the existing historic building, which is 

constrained by existing wall, window and stair positions. 

 The proposed apartment layouts work within the constraints of the existing 

building to provide well balanced accommodation that is appropriate for the 

town centre location. 

 Communal facilities have been prioritised in the development with the provision 

of a new lift and accessible internal cycle and bin storage. 

 The rooms also benefit from large ceiling heights up 3m and tall windows which 

contribute to the sense of spaciousness. 

 The 2 bed 60-62m2 apartments will be classified as 3 persons.  

 The 1 bed apartments at 44-47m2 are within 10% of the space standard for 2 

person units and substantially larger than the 37m2 for 1 person units. 

 

Amended plans are being submitted to provide clarity on the proposed layout and 

expected occupation. It is therefore considered the combined effect will contribute 

towards an acceptable quality living environment. 

 

Given the enclosed nature of the site and urban location, the proposal is only able to 

include a single courtyard deck for the ground floor apartment. However, the site has 

access to open space, local green space, such as Upton Park and a number of 

beaches within walking distance. 

 

No letters of representation have been made towards this planning application 

concerned with residential amenity. 

 

Neighbouring Occupants 

The proposal does not introduce any built form that would impact neighbouring 

occupiers in terms of outlook, overshadowing or loss of sun/daylight. The proposed 

window repositioning would not result in an increase in overlooking of neighbours over 

and above the existing situation.   

 

The units are all acceptable in terms of outlook and design and are considered 

compliant with the relevant paragraphs of the National Planning Policy Framework 

which refer to creating good quality living environments and Policy DE3 of the Local 

Plan.   

 

5. Highway Safety 

The NPPF guides that in assessing sites that may be allocated for development in 

plans, or specific applications for development, it should be ensured that a) 

appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or have 

been – taken up, given the type of development and its location; b) safe and suitable 

access to the site can be achieved for all users; and c) any significant impacts from 

the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on 

highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree (Para 108). 

Page 49



It also furthers (Para 109) that development should only be prevented or refused on 

highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 

residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  

 

Policy TA1 Transport and accessibility of the Local Plan seeks to create to develop a 

sustainable and high quality transportation system which recognises walking and 

cycling as being at the top of the transport hierarchy. 

 

Policy TA2 Development Access states that all development should make appropriate 

provision for works and/or contributions to ensure an adequate level of accessibility 

and safety, and to satisfy the transport needs of the development.  For major 

developments this means that a good standard of access for walking, cycling, public 

and private transport should be provided. 

 

There are bus stops located on Union Street, approximately 100m east of the site, with 

footways and street lighting present for the pedestrian movement between the two. 

The bus stops are serviced by Stagecoach Routes which provide onward connection 

towards Brixham, St Marychurch, Preston and Torquay Harbour. Torquay Rail Station 

is located approximately 1.3km to the south west of the site.  

 

There are footways and street lighting present for pedestrian movement from the site 

to a range of local amenities (retail, healthcare and employment facilities) within 

Torquay. There are on-carriageway cycle lane markings from the site through Union 

Street.  

 

It is considered that the site is located within a sustainable location with good links to 

public transport facilities and a range of local amenities that can be accessed by 

walking and cycling. 

 

No car parking is proposed for the re-development site. Referencing the Torbay Local 

Plan (2012 – 2030) Appendix F, the provision of car free developments within town 

centre locations with good access to public transport and local amenities is considered 

acceptable.  

 

The applicant has stated that there is existing on-street car parking on Union Street, 

however this is restricted to Loading Only and Taxi spaces. There is on-street car 

parking available on Castle Lane which is a CPZ between Monday – Saturday from 

08:00 – 18:00. 

 

The applicant has proposed a total of 20 cycle parking spaces, two per apartment, in 

a secure storage area which is considered acceptable. 

 

Considering the existing use and quantum of development, and the car free nature of 

the redevelopment proposals, it is considered that the site will have a negligible impact 

upon the operation and capacity of the local highway network. 

 

Page 50



Considering the points above, and having regard to guidance contained within the 

NPPF, the proposal is considered acceptable on highway and movements grounds, 

and in accordance with the Policies TA1 and TA2 of the Local Plan, The Paignton 

Neighbourhood Plan and the NPPF. 

 

6. Ecology and Biodiversity 

Policy NC1 of the Local Plan states that all development should positively incorporate 

and promote biodiversity features, proportionate to their scale. Policy TE5 of the 

Torquay Neighbourhood Plan cites that where there may be an impact development 

should be accompanied by an assessment of impacts upon any existing protected 

species or habitats and as necessary provide mitigating arrangements in order to 

protect and enhance those species and habitats. 

 

Ecology 

The site is approximately 660m north of Lyme Bay and Torbay SAC and Torbay Marine 

Conservation Zone (MCZ).  

 

Lyme Bay and Torbay SAC 

There are no increases in impermeable area associated with this application given it 

involves a change of use in the most part. There are no changes in the built form and 

it is proposed to retain the existing surface water disposal system. Similarly, the 

existing foul network within the building will be retained as there will be less flow 

following the works.  

 

Torbay Marine MCZ 

In view of the nature of the application for the new apartments, one impact pathway 

has been identified that has the potential to affect the interest features of the MCZ. 

Effects on water quality: Dust, sediment and pollutants reaching the MCZ via 

construction activities.  

 

The effects of increased recreational pressure are also considered to be minimal given 

the scale of the proposal. 

 

The Devon County Council Ecologist has therefore no objection subject to conditions. 

A condition has therefore been included to require a Construction and Environmental 

Management Plan (CEMP) to be submitted and agreed. The document will need to 

provide measures of construction controls on dust and reducing contaminated run-off. 

Details of pollution control measures, including mitigation for the increased demand 

on foul water systems, post-construction will be submitted and also agreed with the 

LPA. 

 

A HRA Appropriate Assessment has been completed by the Devon County Council 

Ecologist. Natural England have not provided a comment and it is concluded they do 

not object to the proposal. 

 

Habitats 

Page 51



The works are within the existing building footprint and there are to be minimal 

negative impacts on habitats. There was no evidence of bats during the ecological 

survey and there would be limited opportunity for bats to access the building. Roosting 

bats are therefore unlikely to be impacted by this development. There is an opportunity 

for enhancement and a bat box is suggested. This is included as part of a condition. 

Nesting birds were found on site and work should be avoided outside the nesting 

season providing a suitably qualified ecologist is on site. The development is therefore 

considered acceptable providing the development is carried out in accordance with 

the Ecology Assessment. 

 

The Devon County Council Ecologist has no objection. The submitted Ecology Report 

is considered an appropriate and proportionate assessment on the suitability of the 

site for protected species. Conditions have been included to ensure that no works take 

place unless a suitably qualified ecologist is present on site and details of numbers, 

location and design of biodiversity enhancement features including a bat box are 

provided in a CEMP and submitted prior to construction works commencing. 

 

Subject to NE, the proposal therefore complies with Policy NC1 of the Local Plan and 

Policy TE5 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

7. Drainage and Flood Risk  

Policy ER1 of the Local Plan states that proposals should maintain or enhance the 

prevailing water flow regime on-site, including an allowance for climate change, and 

ensure the risk of flooding is not increased elsewhere, which is aligned with guidance 

contained within the NPPF.  

  

The site is located within a flood risk and critical drainage area. A full Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) is included with the application. The report provides the following 
conclusions. The building is considered to be in Flood Zone 1 and on the edge of 
Flood Zone 3.  
 
There is no variation to the developed area as part of this proposal. It is advised that 
all foul and surface water from the property be discharged via the existing 
connections to the public sewer that cross below the site.  
 
To provide resilience against minor water entry into the building a flood door or flood 
barrier system should be provided to achieve a 600mm protection standard.  
 
The FRA demonstrates how the proposed development provides no detrimental 
impact for new residents or neighbouring properties. Under the 1 in 100 year + 40% 
design event there will be no change in effect of the local surface water regime. The 
flow routes for exceedance events around this site will be unaffected by the 
proposals. 
 
The Council’s Drainage Engineer has no objection providing the flood mitigation 
measures identified in the submitted FRA are implemented. 
 

Page 52



Subject to the comments from Environment Agency, the proposal is considered to be 

acceptable, having regard to Policy ER1 of the Local Plan and guidance contained 

within the NPPF. 

 
8. Low Carbon Development 
Policy SS14 of the Local Plan relates to ‘Low carbon development and adaptation to 

climate change’ and seeks major development to minimise carbon emissions and the 

use of natural resources.  Policy ES1 - Energy seeks to ensure that carbon emissions 

associated with existing buildings (heating, cooling, lighting and energy consumption) 

are limited. 

 

The effects on the environment and sustainability have been considered as an integral 

part to the proposal. The construction aims to meet the highest design and 

performance qualities, with Building Regulation required u-values being met or 

exceeded. The strategic approach to the development will be to reduce demand for 

energy consumption in the first instance (Be Lean) Prior to the consideration of 

integrating low carbon/zero carbon energy sources (Be Clean and Be Green). 

Aspiration 5 of the Torbay Local Plan sets an objective to promote the installation of 

low carbon and renewable technologies. Policy SS14 also asked how taking a low 

carbon approach has influenced the design strategy for the development proposed. 

The development proposals will look to minimise CO2. 

 

The energy strategy aims implement passive design and energy efficiency measures 

to reduce energy demand and CO2 emissions. Measures include the refurbishment of 

the exiting sash windows with double glazing, higher levels of thermal insulation, 

internal insulated wall lining between apartments and new floor and ceiling/loft. 

Electricity Energy efficient LED light fittings and controls will also be installed. 

 

This design approach is therefore in accordance with Local Plan Policies SS3 and 

ES1. 

 

9. Other Considerations 
 

Statement on Human Rights and Equalities Issues 

Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of 
the Human Rights Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of 
the Act itself. This Act gives further effect to the rights included in the European 
Convention on Human Rights. In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has 
been given to the applicant's reasonable development rights and expectations which 
have been balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as 
expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central 
Government Guidance. 
 
Equalities Act - In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the 
provisions of the Equalities Act 2010, particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty and 
Section 149. The Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies to have due regard to the 
need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

Page 53



relations between different people when carrying out their activities. Protected 
characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race/ethnicity, religion or belief (or lack of), sex and sexual orientation. 
 
Local Finance Considerations  
S106:  
A contribution to additional waste and recycling services has been requested which is 
charged at £85 per dwelling. 
 
CIL:   
The residential aspect of the site is situated in Charging Zone 1 in the Council's CIL 
Charging Schedule; this means that all new floorspace will be charged at a rate of 
£30/sqm. An informative can be imposed, should consent be granted, to explain the 
applicant's, developer's, landowner's obligations under the CIL Regulations. 
 
 
EIA/HRA  
EIA:  Due to the scale, nature and location this development will not have significant 
effects on the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA development. 

 
HRA: A HRA Appropriate Assessment has been provided for the application which 
concludes that subject to the mitigation measures being secured, there will be no 
adverse effect on the integrity of the SAC or MCZ. 
 

Planning Balance 

The planning assessment considers the policy and material considerations in detail. It 

is considered that the scheme would contribute to addressing the Development Plan 

aspiration to provide housing. The development is also considered to have a positive 

impact on the building with the added public benefit through the re-use of the building 

in the Conservation Area. 

 

Statement on Human Rights and Equalities Issues 

Human Rights Act:  The development has been assessed against the provisions of 

the Human Rights Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of 

the Act itself. This Act gives further effect to the rights included in the European 

Convention on Human Rights.  In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has 

been given to the applicant's reasonable development rights and expectations which 

have been balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as 

expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central 

Government Guidance 

 

Equalities Act  

In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the provisions of the 

Equalities Act 2010, particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty and Section 149.   The 

Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to eliminate 

discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between 

different people when carrying out their activities. Protected characteristics are age, 

Page 54



disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race/ethnicity, religion or 

belief (or lack of), sex and sexual orientation.  

 

Proactive Working 

In accordance with the requirements of Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order, 2015, in determining this 

application, Torbay Council has worked positively with the applicant to ensure that all 

relevant planning concerns have been appropriately resolved. The Council has 

concluded that this application is acceptable for planning approval. 

 

Conclusions and Reasons for Decision 

The proposal is acceptable in principle as it would not result in unacceptable harm to 

the character of the area, the setting of the Conservation Area or local amenity; would 

provide acceptable arrangement in relation to residential amenity, highways and flood 

risk. The proposed development is considered acceptable, having regard to the 

Torbay Local Plan, the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan, and all other material 

considerations. 

 

The development is also considered to have a positive impact on the building with the 

added public benefit through the re-use of the building in the Conservation Area and 

the provision of much needed additional housing.  

 

The proposals are considered to be in accordance with the provisions of the 

Development Plan. The Officer recommendation is therefore one of conditional 

approval.  

 

 

Conditions  

 

Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEMP): 

Prior to the commencement of development (including ground works, vegetation 

clearance) a Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP shall be prepared 

in accordance with specifications in BS42020; clause 10.2 and shall include the 

following: 

 

a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.  

b) Identification of 'biodiversity protection zones'.  

c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to 

avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method 

statements).  

d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features. 

This includes the use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.  

e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site 

to monitor works to ensure compliance with the CEcoMP, and the actions that will be 

undertaken.  

Page 55



f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.  

g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or 

similarly competent person. The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and 

implemented throughout the construction period strictly in accordance with the 

approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority and 

the biodiversity enhancement features shall be retained for the lifetime of the 

development. 

 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Construction 

Ecological Management Plan which shall be implemented in full. 

 

Reason:  

To secure a satisfactory form of development in accordance with Policies SS2, SS8 

and NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 

 

This condition needs to be a pre-commencement condition to ensure the impacts of 

the development are mitigated from the beginning of the development. 

 

Ecology Mitigation Measures:   

The development shall proceed in full accordance with the submitted and approved 

Preliminary Ecological Assessment by Green Lane Ecology received 10 February 

2022. 

 

Reason:   

In order to protect ecology and to secure necessary mitigation to accord with the aims 

for biodiversity enhancements, in accordance with Policies NC1 and SS8 of the Torbay 

Local Plan 2012-2030 and guidance contained in the NPPF. 

 

Ecological Mitigation Measures: 

Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, a bat box shall be 

incorporated into the development (in accordance with manufacturer's instructions for 

correct siting and installation) and retained at all times thereafter. 

 

Reason:  

To ensure that the development duly considers protected species and biodiversity, in 

accordance with Policy NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

Bird nesting season: 

No building works shall take place during the bird nesting season (01 March to 31 

August, inclusive) unless the developer has been advised by a suitably qualified 

ecologist that the clearance will not disturb nesting birds and a record of this kept. 

 

Reason:  

To ensure that the development duly considers protected species and biodiversity, in 

accordance with Policy NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

Page 56



Flood Risk Assessment: 

The development shall proceed in full accordance with the submitted and approved 

Flood Risk Assessment by Case Consultants received on 4 March 2022. The use shall 

thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved details which shall include the 

provision and retention for the life of the development of a flood door or flood barrier 

system to achieve a 600mm protection standard. 

 

The drainage system and soakaway(s) shall be provided prior to the occupation of the 

development hereby approved and shall be retained and maintained for the lifetime of 

the development. 
 

Reason:  

In the interests of managing flood risk to occupiers in accordance with the NPPF, and 

to comply with Policies ER1 and ER2 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

Designing Out Crime: 

Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, a scheme of measures for 

designing-out crime shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The approved measures shall be fully installed prior to the first use 

of the development and shall be permanently retained thereafter.  

 

Reason:  

In the interests of amenity and preventing opportunities for criminal activity, in 

accordance with Policies DE1 and DE3 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

Bicycle Storage: 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, the bicycle storage 

shown on the approved plans (plan reference 4750-KE-00-DR-A-(22)000-S2-P4 -

(GF) received 9 February 2022) shall be provided. Once provided, the agreed bicycle 

storage shall be retained for the life of the development and made available for use to 

all residents of the development. 

 

Reason:  

In the interests of sustainable transport and in accordance with Policies TA1, TA2, and 

TA3 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

Waste and recycle store: 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, the waste and 

recycle storage area shown on the approved plans (plan reference 4750-KE-00-DR-

A-(22)000-S2-P4 -(GF) received 9 February 2022) shall be provided. Once provided, 

the agreed storage shall be retained for the life of the development and made available 

for use to all residents of the development. 

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory completion of development and protect the amenity 

of future and neighbouring occupants in accordance with Policies DE3 and SS10 of 

the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

Page 57



 

Making Good: 

All new external works and finishes and works of making good to the retained fabric 

shall match the existing adjacent work in respect of finished appearance unless 

otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: In the interests of maintaining and enhancing the character and appearance 

of the building and the local area further to Policies DE1 and DE5 of the Local Plan, 

Policy TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan and the guidance contained in the 

NPPF.   

 

Joinery Details: 

No piece of external joinery shall be installed or undertaken unless full details of that 

piece have been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. Such details shall be at full or half scale and shall include cross-sections, 

profiles, reveal, surrounds, materials, finish and colour. The works shall thereafter be 

carried out in accordance with the approved details.  

 

Reason: In the interests of maintaining and enhancing the character and appearance 

of the building and the local area further to Policies DE1 and DE5 of the Local Plan, 

Policy TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan and the guidance contained in the 

NPPF.   

 

Materials: 

No construction of the external walls of the development shall commence until a 

schedule of materials and finishes, and samples of the materials to be used in the 

construction of the external surfaces, including roofs, have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter 

be carried out only in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: In the interests of maintaining and enhancing the character and appearance 

of the building and the local area further to Policies DE1 and DE5 of the Local Plan, 

Policy TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan and the guidance contained in the 

NPPF.   

 

Removal of PD Rights Class L Part 3 (HMO): 

Notwithstanding the provisions of Class L of Part 3 to Schedule 2 of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking 

or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the residential use of the 

building known as the Municipal Chambers, hereby granted shall not be changed to a 

House in Multiple Occupation, unless permission under the provisions of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990 has first been sought and obtained in writing from the 

Local Planning Authority. 

  

Page 58



Reason: In interests of visual and local amenity and the living environment conditions 

in this locality in accordance with Policies DE1, DE3, H4 and SS11 of the Torbay Local 

Plan 2012-2030. 

 

Relevant Policies 

 

Local Plan 
DE1 – Design 
DE3 – Development Amenity 
ES1 - Energy 
TA2 – Development Access 
TA3 – Parking Requirements 
ER1 – Flood Risk 
ER2 – Water Management 
NC1 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
HE1 – Listed Buildings 
SS3 – Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development 
SS4 – The Economy and Employment 
SS10 – Conservation and the Historic Environment 
SS11 – Sustainable Communities 
SS14 - Low carbon development and adaptation to climate change 
C4 – Trees, hedgerows and natural landscape features 
 
Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 
TH8 – Established Architecture 
TH9 – Parking Facilities 
THW5 – Access to sustainable Transport 
TE5 – Protected species habitats and biodiversity 
TH10 – Protection of the Historic Built Environment 
TS1 – Sustainable Development 
TS4 – Support for Brownfield and Greenfield development 
TT2 – Change of use in Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings 
 
 

Page 59


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Land At Nightingale Park, Barton Hill Way, Torquay - P/2021/1287
	6 Municipal Chambers, Union Street, Torquay - P/2022/0089

